IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SD J.

JUN 29 1929 CLERK DECARE COURT

Appellant,

CASE NO. 73,571

V

STATE OF FLORIDA,

MICHAEL G. PATRICK REILLY,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNT, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN **#201170** ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH **301** SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA **32301** (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

###

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### Procedural Progress of the Case

An Escambia County grand jury indicted Michael Glen Patrick Reilly for first degree murder, sexual battery and aggravated child abuse committed upon Jonathan Wells. (R 1208) The five count indictment was filed on February 23, 1988. (R 1208) Although only one death was involved, the indictment charged three counts of first degree murder -- premeditated, felony murder during a sexual battery, and felony murder during an aggravated child abuse. (R 1208) Reilly moved to dismiss two of the three murder counts because only one death occurred. (R 1239, 1720-1722) The trial court denied the motion. (R 1273, 1722) Reilly proceeded to a jury trial on October 24, 1988, relying on the defense of alibi. (R 1, 1286) On October 28, 1988, the jury found Reilly guilty of all five counts as charged. (R 1100, 1419-1420) The jury heard additional evidence at the penalty phase of the trial and recommended a death sentence. (R 1425)

Circuit Judge William H. Anderson adjudged Reilly guilty of all five counts on December 7, 1988. (R 1469-1470) He sentenced Reilly to death on each of the three murder counts, to life for the sexual battery and to 15 years for the aggravated child abuse. (R 1447-1477) In his written findings in support of the death sentences, Judge Anderson found three aggravating circumstances: (1) Reilly had a previous conviction for a violent felony, a sexual battery; (2) the homicide occurred during the commission of a sexual battery; and (3) the

- 1 -

homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. (R 1466-1467) In mitigation, the court found that Reilly's "capacity ... to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and to conform his conduct to the requirement of law was somewhat, but not substantially, impaired.'' (R 1466-1467)

Reilly filed his notice of appeal to this Court on January 9, 1989. (R 1515)

# Facts -- Guilt Phase

Four-year-old Jonathan Wells went fishing alone at the bayou near his home on February 2, 1988. (R 810-811) His mother, Jamie Wells, said Jonathan left home around 12:30 and returned for help with a tangled line a short time later. (R 811) Jonathan's father, Paul Wells, arrived home at 1:45 p.m. (R 802) He had had a dispute with his boss and quit his job. (R 794, 802, 807-808) Paul and Jamie began looking for Jonathan at 2:30 or 3:00. (R 803) A neighbor, Ronald Moe, saw Jonathan at 2:35 walking up from the bayou carrying a stick which could have been a fishing pole. (R 742-743) Sybil Knight, who lived in the same neighborhood on the bayou, saw Jonathan at approximately **3:15** or **3:30.** (R 765-770, 779) Jonathan walked through her yard almost everyday to fish off the Knight's dock. (R 762) Around 4:15, Jamie Wells found Jonathan's body near the edge of the water. (R 501-502, 786789, 791, 813-815) She had taken a path from the Knight's dock which followed along the edge of the water. (R 813-814) Jonathan was down an embankment near the edge of the water and

- 2 -

partially hidden behind roots and brush growing there. (R 503-504, 520-521, 533, 814) His body could not be seen from the dock. (R 548) Ervin Page, a neighbor who was jogging nearby and heard Jamie Wells' screams, came to assist and had his parents call the paramedics. (R 494-512) The dispatcher for Emergency Communication received the call at 4:37, and the paramedics arrived on the scene at 4:41. (R 512-516)

Dr. Thomas Birdwell performed an autopsy the following day. (R 601-605) He found evidence of strangulation and an incision to the neck, made by a sharp instrument, which cut the trachea and jugular vein. (R 608-610) Birdwell concluded that the cause of death was strangulation. (R 610-613) The incision to the neck probably occurred after death, since Birdwell did not find an inhaling of blood into the trachea which would have happened if the heart had been vigorously beating at the time of the incision. (R 617-618) Other than two slight bruises to the head and some small scratches on the cheek and ear lobe, Birdwell found no other evidence of trauma. (R 608-609)

Physical evidence discovered during the course of the investigation included shoe impressions, a knife, blood and semen. Investigators found footprints near the body and footprints on a sandbar which was in excess of 520 feet away from the body's location. (R 533, 536, 556, 558-560, 565, 568) The footprints near the body proved to be those the police officers who first arrived, the paramedic or Irvin Page, the neighbor who was jogging and came to assist. (R 555-557, 565) Tennis shoe tracks found on the sandbar were later matched to

- 3 -

Michael Reilly's shoes which had been seized from his home. (R 563, 747-760) Reilly's mother also gave investigators two knives, one was a camping knife with a multiple blades and the other a lock-blade type pocket knife with only one blade. (R 675-677) An FDLE seriologist found type A human blood on the lock-blade knife. (R 686-691) He said the blood stains could have been on the knife as long a year. (R 694) The victim had type A blood. (R 690) Michael Reilly also has type A blood. (R 695-696) Tests for the presence of semen performed on the swabs taken of the victim's mouth at autopsy and on a stain found on the victim's sweat shirt were positive. (R 582-584, 721-723)

Two State's witnesses testified to seeing Michael Reilly on the day of the homicide. (R 744-746, 828-852) Ronald Moe said he saw Jonathan walking from the bayou around 2:35 p.m. (R 742-746) He did not see Michael at that time. (R 744-745) However, Moe had seen Michael earlier at approximately 11:00 (R 744) Michael was getting off a bus, and he was wearing a.m. camouflage pants and a red stocking cap. (R 744-745) Robert Potts was the substitute mail carrier for the neighborhood where Jonathan and Michael lived. (R 819-827) He delivered mail there on the day of the homicide. (R 819-829) Although he did not know Michael's name, Potts recognized him since he had given him his family's mail in the past. (R 836-837, 852) Potts said he saw a man walking toward the bayou between 3:00 and 3:30. (R 833-839) A few minutes later, Potts saw the same man walking by and recognized him as Michael. (R 834-835)

- 4 -

Michael was wearing khaki pants, a dark windbreaker and a knit toboggan type hat. (R 835) Potts saw Michael on the television report about the crime, and he called the police to give his information. (R 839-840, 875-886)

Three jail inmates who were incarcerated in the jail's infirmary with Michael testified that he made incriminating admissions to them. (R 642, 700, 854) Randy White testified first. (R 642) He was awaiting trial on two robbery charges and had recently returned from the state hospital in Chatahoochee (R 643, 654) White had been declared incompetent to stand trial and spent six months in the hospital on a diagnosis of borderline retardation. (R 654) White said he heard Michael make statements about the homicide. (R 646-651) Once Michael approached White and asked if he could talk to him. (R 646) According to White, Michael said he was in big trouble because he was arrested for killing a little boy. (R 646) Michael allegedly said that he had the boy perform oral sex, he became excited and cut his throat. (R 647) White asked Michael where the knife was located, and he answered that it was at home. (R 647) On a second occasion, Michael was playing cards with another inmate, Alvin Johnson. (R 648-651) An argument arose over the card game and White said he heard Michael tell Johnson, "I will fuck you up just like I did that little boy." (R 650) During cross-examination, White said he was declared incompetent to stand trial and sent to the state hospital with a diagnosis of retardation. (R 654) However, on redirect, White denied being retarded. (R 669) Before recross, defense

- 5 -

counsel asked the court to open White's court records containing his mental evaluation. (R 671) The court refused, and White also refused to waive his psychotherapist privilege. (R 671-672) Counsel moved to strike White's testimony because denying access to the mental evaluation denied Reilly his right to effective confrontation of the witness. (R 673)

Guillermo Martinez was Michael's roommate for a time while in the jail infirmary. (R 702-703) He testified that Michael made an incriminating statement while playing a card game. (R 703-704) Michael allegedly told a story as he showed Martinez a card trick stating "this is me walking down the beach, bumped into a little boy and made him suck my dick and cut his throat." (R 704-706) Martinez also overheard Michael statements to Alvin Johnson when a confrontation arose over a card game. (R 707) Michael told Martinez that he was on "four-way acid" at the time of the homicide. (R 713)

Kenny Peck was incarcerated in the county jail infirmary on a violation of his community control on three counts of aggravated child abuse. (R 857, 864-869) He was in the infirmary for injuries to his back, hand and "problems with his nerves." (R 855, 860) Michael came to the infirmary on a Saturday and was isolated for a time. (R 858) Peck talked to Michael on Tuesday. (R 858) He was reading his Bible in the day room when Michael approached and asked, "Well, tell me why your God took my little sister when she was small?" (R 859) After giving Michael an answer, Peck then asked Michael why he strangled the little boy. (R 859) Michael said, "Because he

- 6 -

wouldn't suck my dick." (R 859) According to Peck, Michael said he cut the boy's throat to make it look as if someone else did the crime and that the knife would not be found. (R 860)

Michael presented an alibi defense at trial. Lawrence Reilly, Michael's father, testified that Michael was at home on the afternoon of the homicide. (R 890-905) He is a nurse and was working the 11:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. shift at the hospital. (R 890, 892) Normally, Lawrence returned home by 7:30 and went to sleep from 9:00 to 3:00. (R 894) On the day of the homicide, however, he awoke round 2:00 and began watching television in the living room of the family's small, frame house. (R 891, 894) Michael's bedroom door was easily visible from the living room. (R 891-892) Between 3:00 and 3:30, Michael walked out of his room, where he had been studying, passed his father and went outside to check the mail. (R 893) Within a couple of minutes, Michael returned, joked with his father and handed him the mail. (R 893) Michael went back into his room. (R 893) Lawrence sat in his chair in the living room until 4:30 or 5:00. (R 894) He ate dinner and went to his bedroom to sleep. (R 894) Michael did not come out of his room during that time period. (R 894-895)

Mary Reilly, Michael's mother, was home all day on the day of the homicide. (R 906-909) She said Michael left home around 6:30 a.m. to take a bus to the Port Authority to check on a job. (R 910) He did not get a job and he returned home by 10:20. (R 909-910) Mary asked Michael to run a couple of errands which he did, returning about 11:30. (R 910) Around

- 7 -

12:00, Michael decided to go fishing. (R 911) He usually fished at the dock on the bayou which was a two-minute walk from his house. (R 916-917) Michael wore camouflage pants, a toboggan hat and red tennis shoes. (R 909-910) He returned from fishing between 1:30 and 1:45 p.m. and remained inside the rest of the afternoon, except for a minute when he picked up the mail around 3:00. (R 913-914)

Brandon Hartjen, who lived in the neighborhood, testified he saw someone, other than Michael, running from the crime scene immediately after he first heard screams from the scene. (R 947-958) Since he knew Michael, Brandon was sure the man he saw someone else. (R 953-955) The man had dark hair and was larger than Michael. (R 955) After the screams, Brandon went to the location and talked to Erv Page, whom he also knew. (R 953, 956-958) He had first seen Page jogging on the street. (R 957-958)

# Motion to Suppress Statements to Inmates

Investigators focused on Michael as a possible suspect. (R 1542-1545) On Saturday, February 6, 1988, they went to Michael's house at 11:00 a.m. and asked him to accompany them to the sheriff's department for questioning. (R 1544-1545) The investigators began the questioning at 11:59. (R 1548) Michael was interrogated for over two hours. (R 1551-1552) Ultimately, Michael confessed, and on that basis, he was arrested. (R 1673) Michael was incarcerated in the jail infirmary Saturday afternoon, and within three or four days, he allegedly made the

- 8 -

incriminating statements to three inmates: Randy White, Guillermo Martinez and Kenny Peck. (R 642, 700, 854) After an extensive hearing on a motion to suppress the statement given to the investigators on February 6th, the trial court concluded that Michael's statement was involuntary. (R 1268-1271, 1526-1710, 1272) The investigators had used coercive tactics, lead Michael to believe the homicide was being considered as an accident, and made promises of mental health treatment rather than prosecution. (R 1278) (see, also, transcript of the taped statement appearing at R 1479-1514 and 1566-1666) The trial judge's written order granting the motion stated,

> The defendant is of less than average intelligence and is emotionally handicapped. Promises were strongly implied to the defendant that confessing to involvement in the killing would result only in his receiving treatment and counseling, whereas denial of such involvement would result in much harsher consequences. It is evident that such promises induced the defendant to make the statements sought to be suppressed. Under these circumstances, statements were not voluntary.

(R 1272)

After the trial court suppressed the involuntary confession, Reilly moved to suppress the statements allegedly made to the inmates. (R 1284-1285, 1372-1386, 1445) The premise of the motion was that Reilly was illegally arrested on the basis of the involuntary confession, which rendered his incarceration and later statements tainted fruit of the illegal confession and arrest. (R 1284-1285) At the hearing, the only evidence presented was depositions of the inmates detailing the

- 9 -

circumstances surrounding the statements. (R 1372-1373, 1377) Defense counsel urged that Reilly, who had been arrested and incarcerated in the jail infirmary only a few days before the statements, was still under the influence of the promises of treatment which induced the confession to investigators. (R 1374-1377, 1384-1385) During argument, the prosecutor contended that the first appearance hearing, the appointment of counsel and a visit from his parents were sufficient intervening events to break the causal connection between the involuntary confession and the statements to the inmates. (R 1382-1383) The trial court denied the motion. (R 1445)

# Pretrial Publicity and Motion for Change of Venue

The homicide in this case prompted extensive media coverage of the offense, the investigation and the criminal justice system generally. (R 1292-1348) Newspapers carried articles detailing the crime and its impact on the relatives and community. (R 1292-1300) Photographs of grieving relatives were published. (R 1292, 1298) Even a photograph of pallbearers carrying the casket at the funeral appeared in the newspaper. (R 1300) Several news accounts discussed the details of the investigation, including maps, diagrams and photographs. (R 1294-1299, 1302, 1306, 1339-1344)

Reilly's arrest generated further media coverage of the crime and extensive coverage of Reilly's background. (R 1302-1315) Readers learned of Reilly's prior conviction for sexual battery on an elderly woman and the fact that he served three

- 10 -

years and nine months in prison on a six year term. (R 1308, 1314-1315) Additionally, Reilly's juvenile record was paraded in print. (R 1314-1315) These articles also discussed the fact that his juvenile record was not used to enhance his adult sexual battery sentence. (R 1314-1315) This generated a series of articles and letters to the editor expressing concern that the system was not protecting the public. (R 1312-1338, 1357) Interviews with neighbors expressing their fear of Reilly in the neighborhood appeared. (R 1303-1304, 1310) Finally, the media reported Reilly's confession to the homicide, including his alleged admission to having strangled the victim and cut The account included a statement of his throat. (R 1309-1311) the investigators' opinions that Reilly's told the truth in his confession. (R 1309) The order suppressing Reilly's confession as involuntary was front page news. (R 1346-1347)

Reilly moved for a change of venue pretrial. (R 1263-1264, 1363-1369) The court reserved ruling on the motion until after jury selection. (R 1369) At jury selection, every member of the venire had heard or read something about the case. (R 76) Several prospective jurors said they had fixed opinions about the case based on the news stories. (R 76-77) All of the twelve primary jurors had read or heard something about the

- 11 -

case.' The court denied the motion for change of venue. (R 427)

# Jury Selection -- Challenges for Cause

During jury selection, the trial court denied defense challenges for cause to two prospective jurors: Jurors Blackwell and Powell. (R **219-220**, **249-251**) Blackwell had knowledge of the confession, which had been suppressed pretrial. (R **207-212**) Powell expressed beliefs in favor of imposing death for first degree murder which would interfere with his ability to fairly consider a life recommendation in this case. (R **238-243**) Defense counsel expended a peremptory challenge on each these two prospective jurors. (R **220**, **251**) Counsel exhausted his peremptory challenges and requested additional ones. (R **425**) The court denied the request. (R **425-427**) Counsel noted that there were three seated jurors whom he would have excused if he had additional peremptory challenges. (R **427**)

### Penalty Phase and Sentencing

The State presented no additional witnesses at penalty phase. (R 11115-1116) Pursuant to a stipulation, the State did

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The twelve jurors and the page reference where their respective individual voir dire begins are: 1. Krause, 200; 2. Welch, 212; 3. Motley, 224; 4. Bradley, 228; 5. Messick, 244; 6. Haney, 251; 7. Odom, 269; 8. Wood, 283; 9. Burt, 318; 10. Fisher, 343; 11. Baker, 404; 12. Woodbury, 418.

submit a judgment for Reilly's conviction for a sexual battery committed in **1983.** (R **1116)** In mitigation, Reilly called five witnesses. (R 1117, **1132-1133,** 1144, **1151,** 1164)

Lawrence Reilly testified about his son's background, chronic emotional problems and learning disabilities. (R 1151-1164) Michael was born on April 29, 1964, and was the middle of three children. (R 1152-1153) By 1978, several chronic problems had developed with Michael. (R 1153) He had speech impairments necessitating therapy, an eye problem requiring surgery which left him with a wandering eye, and learning and emotional disabilities. (R 1154-1155) Other children would ridicule him about his speech, his eye and his red hair. (R 1154) He began to strike out against others. (R **1154)** Michael attended several different schools for those suffering learning and emotional disabilities. (R 1154-1157) While attending J. Lee Pickens School, Michael was referred to a psychiatrist because of behavioral problems. (R 1155-1157) When Michael was 16-years-old, he went to E-Ma-Chamee which is a boys' camp for those chronically in trouble. (R 1156) He was there over two years. (R 1156) Michael did not graduate from high school, but he did receive a certificate of attendance from George Stone School where he was in a vocational courses program. (R 1156-1157) In 1983, Lawrence Reilly lost his job. (R 1158) He told his family. (R 1158) That night, Michael went out, got drunk and committed a sexual battery. (R 1158-1160) He was sentenced to seven years and served four. (R 1160) Michael's father was upset and did not visit Michael in

- 13 -

prison for two years. (R 1156-1157) Michael feared for his safety in prison and became involved in some fights. (R 1162) Since his release from prison, Michael had been looking for work every day and was enrolled in a community college introductory drug counseling program. (R 909, 1133, 1144)

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