IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. ...

AUG 6 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL GLENN PATRICK REILLY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 73,571

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER #239161
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Reilly has failed to show - or in some cases even allege - reversible error in this case.

Reilly's claim regarding witness White's mental health records ignores both the facts of the case and the law governing said records. Mr. White did not raise the competency issue, Reilly did. Reilly cannot manufacture a waiver of a witness' privilege of non-disclosure. Reilly has failed to show any impeachment value of White's records as well.

Reilly's "challenge for cause" issue neglects to relate the law to the facts and wholly neglects to show - as required - that he was prejudiced.

Reilly's "venue" claim is specious, at best, since the news reports detailed in his brief - as he tacitly concedes by his silence - were never viewed by his jurors.

The statements uttered voluntarily by Reilly to various inmates were not subject to suppression since they were post-Miranda and totally unsolicited.

Reilly was not prejudiced when the state charged him with one murder but separated its various theories into distinct counts.

Reilly was properly sentenced to death.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING MID-TRIAL ACCESS TO THE MENTAL HEALTH RECORDS OF A STATE WITNESS

Mr. Reilly alleges that his constitutional right to confront and cross-examine a state witness, Randy White, was violated when the trial judge denied defense counsel's mid-trial motion for production of White's mental health records.

Mr. White testified to Reilly's incriminating conversations with various inmates in the county jail. Mr. White did not volunteer any information regarding his mental abilities on direct examination and the State did not offer evidence or testimony on the subject. Mr. White's testimony was corroborated by two other inmates whose mental abilities are unquestioned.

Mr. Reilly complains that White was permitted to invoke a psychiatrist-patient privilege regarding his stay at Chattahoochee. At the outset, we would note that the issue of whether any such privilege existed (in the first place) has not been raised on appeal and has been waived. The existence of any privilege would be contingent, under §90.503(4), Florida Statutes, upon the nature of any order appointing any psychiatrist to examine White. We must assume (since all facts and inferences on appeal must be taken in favor of the State), that a privilege existed.

Since the privilege existed, we must contend with Reilly's assertion that it was waived.

Mr. White did not volunteer, on direct, any mental health information. This entire issue was brought up during cross-examination when Mr. White was compelled to answer defense counsel's questions regarding a prior adjudication of incompetence and the nature of his alleged mental problems (i.e. "borderline retardation").

The law is well settled that a witness cannot be trapped into waiving a psychiatrist-patient privilege by a clever cross-examination of this kind. **Mohammed v. Mohammed**, 358 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); **McIntyre v. McIntyre**, 404 So.2d 208 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981); **Khairzdah v. Khairzdah**, 464 So.2d 1311 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). If a lawyer - by forcing a witness to deny being ill on cross - could manufacture a waiver of the privilege then the privilege would be worthless.

Here, White claimed the privilege after **defense counsel** raised the issue for the first time. White denied being retarded. That cannot be interpreted as a "waiver".

Having disposed of the alleged "waiver", we next turn to the issue of whether defense counsel was entitled to develop evidence of White's alleged retardation and use it to impeach the witness. The State does not accept the notion that "borderline retardation" is grounds for impeachment. We are not, after all, dealing with a mental condition involving hallucinations, perceptual problems, or improper conduct such as lying or stealing. All "borderline retardation" means is that White was not very smart. Indeed, to an average juror White's retardation might have made him seem **less** likely to lie; thus enhancing, rather than impeaching, his testimony.

Be that as it may, should the court have ordered access to White's records? The answer is clearly "no".

First, the timing of counsel's request must be questioned. White's situation was obviously known to counsel given the nature of cross-examination, yet no pretrial request for White's records was filed. In **Fields v. State**, 379 So.2d 408 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), the Third District, citing **Mitchell v. State**, 321 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), upheld the denial of a defense requests for a witness' psychiatric records filed on the eve of trial. The request was denied as untimely. (**Fields** also holds that there was no improper restriction of cross-examination since the witness, on direct, did not place his mental health at issue).

If White's earlier commitment was the product of a court ordered evaluation under 890.503(4)(c), Florida Statutes, it was never privileged and his files could have been obtained before trial. If they (the records) were privileged, they would never have been used anyway.

Second, the State would note that a line of related cases exists on the general theory of defense-testing of the mental health of state witnesses. In Florida, courts will not order evaluations of state witnesses at the request of the defense just because the defense desires to 'impeach' said witnesses by attacking their perception and/or credibility. See **Dinkins v. State**, 244 So.2d 148 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971); **Hawkins v. State**, 326 So.2d 229 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976), **explained in State v. Coe**, 521 So.2d 373 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988).

Coe recognized three reasons for disallowing psychiatric assaults on witnesses' credibility; to-wit:

- (1) The jury's function as arbiter of credibility would be usurped by psychiatric experts.
- (2) The practice could lead to a "corroboration requirement" in certain kinds of cases.
- (3) The witness' right of privacy would be violated.

Coe thus held that a witness' mental health should only be subjected to defense-testing in rare cases when "strong" or "compelling" reasons exist.³ No such reasons were present in this case, since "borderline retardation" does not compromise credibility and since White's testimony was corroborated, at least in part, by two other witnesses who either heard Reilly or had similar encounters with him.

While Reilly did not ask for testing, the analogy between Coe, **et al**, and this case is apt. Just as the defense in Coe, **Baker** and **Dinkins** could not compel testing of a witness absent some showing of an actual credibility problem, so, too, Reilly could not demand access to White's existing records without some showing that White's retardation impacted upon his honesty. The need for such a defense proffer was recognized in **Fields v. State, supra**.

³ In **Hawkins v. State, supra**, for example, the witness had a mental health history of paranoia and was apparently known to be untruthful by her doctor. Thus, her ability to abide by her oath was at issue. When the witness' testimony was corroborated, however, as in **Baker v. State**, 526 So.2d 202 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), no testing was allowed.

Reilly's inability to show how retardation affects honesty undermines his entire case. In **Clark v. State**, 379 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1979), this Court found no error in a trial court's refusal to permit cross-examination of a state witness (whose mental health was not at issue) on the topic of whether he had ever seen a psychiatrist. Clark never showed how either a "yes" or a "no" would have helped his case. In our case, White admitted that he had been declared incompetent as "borderline retarded" at one time and that he was later adjudged competent. White denied being "retarded", but so what? If he was retarded his answer could not be held against him unless he was a qualified mental health expert as well as being retarded. If he was not "retarded" he told the truth and, in fact, has an adjudication of competence to back him up. So where is the benefit to Reilly? Did White have access to his charts? Would he understand them if he did?

Mr. White was not on trial. His mental health was not at issue. There was nothing to indicate that White did not hear Reilly "confess". Defense counsel enjoyed full and wide ranging cross-examination.⁴ The jury learned that White had been sent to Chattahoochee at one time. Since **Delaware v. Van Arsdall**, 475 U.S. 673 (1986), makes it clear that a defendant is not entitled to a particular "quality" of cross, and given the full examination permitted here, Reilly is not entitled to relief.

⁴ In fact, the Court erred in **favor** of Reilly by permitting improper cross-examination on White's past use of other names. See **Banda v. State**, 536 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1988).

Indeed, even if the court erred, any error was harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CHALLENGES (FOR CAUSE) TO TWO IMPARTIAL VENIREMEN

The Appellant challenged two veniremen, Powell and Blackwell, for cause. The challenges were denied, forcing Appellant to use peremptory challenges to remove these potential jurors. Despite Reilly's effort to take their voir dire responses out of context, the record shows that these veniremen were not subject to removal for cause.

Mr. Blackwell read about the case, months before trial, for only three or four days. He did not follow the case. (R 207). While he was "opinionated about the whole issue" (R 208) at first, he never formed an opinion about the guilt or innocence of Reilly. (R 208). Counsel never developed the meaning of "opinionated about the whole issue", but clearly that remark was unrelated to any issue regarding the Appellant. The comment could have easily meant that Blackwell had an opinion about the crime (or if there was one), the odds of finding the weapon in the bay, or whether Johnathan's father killed him as first suspected, or even the negligence of Mrs. Wells in letting a four-year-old go off on his own for an entire day. Blackwell said a death sentence was possible (R 209) and he was correct. He also said he would not prejudge Reilly. (R 209). Blackwell rejected media stories and said he would have to see evidence in court. (See R 212).

Mr. Powell had no recollection of the case. (R 237). He did not even remember names. (R 237). At most, some person at work said that whoever did that ought to be killed, (R 238) a comment Powell agreed with at the time. (R 238). Powell, like many of the veniremen, was confused by defense counsel's questions regarding the penalty phase, but Powell stated he would assuredly consider penalties less than death. (R 239-43). Even the court noted that counsel's abstract questions confused Powell and that Powell was "clearly unbiased". (R 251).

These, then, were the veniremen Reilly struck peremptorily. Apparently Reilly believes that trial judges must grant challenges for cause, on demand, no matter how impartial the venireman is. This argument is specious. Judge Anderson freely granted challenges for cause (excusing some fifteen veniremen) and he denied state challenges to veniremen who opposed capital punishment. It cannot logically or honestly be said that Judge Anderson, in any way, stacked the jury against Reilly.

In **Pentecost v. State**, 14 F.L.W. 319 (Fla. 1989), this Court, citing **Lusk v. State**, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984), held that the test for any challenge for cause centers upon the ability of the prospective juror to "lay aside" any bias and render a verdict on the basis of the evidence. Then, citing **Davis v. State**, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984), this Court held that the trial judge, not the appellate court, was the proper person to resolve the issue.

The trial court in our case made a fair (and record-supported) decision regarding these unbiased veniremen.

We submit that the trial judge saw and heard these veniremen and was in the best position to assess their demeanor and honesty. He cannot be reversed on a cold record. **Tibbs v. State**, 397 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1981).

Mr. Reilly may argued that in recent weeks this Court, in **Stokes v. State**, 14 F.L.W. 349 (Fla. 1989), held it would not examine a transcript to see why peremptory challenges were used but then, in **Roundtree v. State**, 14 F.L.W. 338 (Fla. 1989), engaged in that very tactic at defense request. He may also argue that **Pentecost** was also, subsequently, not followed in **Hamilton v. State**, ____ So.2d ____, Case No. 70,502 (Fla. 1989), when this Court second-guessed trial court rulings on challenges for cause at the defendant's behest. Thus, Reilly will contend he is entitled to a "second voir dire" despite **Pentecost** and **Tibbs, et al.** The State, while ethically obliged to acknowledge these seemingly inconsistent cases, rejects any notion that this Honorable Court is obliged to engage in **ad hoc** decision making. It is consistency, not inconsistency, that our trial courts need to avoid endless appeals. Consistency demands that the law be the same from week to week and that fundamental principles be upheld. **Pentecost** correctly noted the role of the trial judge during voir dire. The judge is not subject to **ad hoc** review or the reweighing of (cold) testimony. **Tibbs, supra.** He should only be reversed for a clear abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the defense.

Returning to **Pentecost**, we note that the defense must **additionally** prove that the jurors it was forced to accept (by

exhausting peremptories) were also objectionable, citing **Rollins v. State**, 148 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1963), and **Nibert v. State**, 508 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1987). Reilly, while mentioning counsel's remark that he would have peremptorily stricken other jurors "but for" having to strike Powell and Blackwell, neither alleges nor shows how these other jurors prejudiced his case. **Ross v. Oklahoma**, ___ U.S. ___, 43 Cr.L. 3098 (1988).

The three⁵ jurors Reilly refuses to discuss; Mr. Fisher, Mrs. Messick and Mr. Bradley, were totally unremarkable. Indeed, defense counsel barely questioned them and never challenged them either for cause or peremptorily even though - at the time - he had peremptories left. (Terrell only mentioned them as possible "backstrikes" - apparently to create a record). To this day we have no idea why these jurors were objectionable and, per **Stokes**, supra, we cannot go shopping for unspoken reasons.

Reilly has simply failed to show any abuse of discretion or resulting prejudice. This appeal must, therefore, fail.

⁵ Mr. Terrell named three venirepersons he was forced to accept by using two challenges. We do not account for his arithmetic.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN
DENYING REILLY'S MOTION
FOR CHANGE OF VENUE.

The Appellant's brief goes to great lengths to outline news media accounts of Reilly's crime, but conveniently neglects to mention that not one of the jurors in this case read or recalled those reports and, in fact, not one of his petit jurors was challenged (peremptorily or for cause) due to exposure to said articles.

The mere fact that a given case received extensive pre-trial publicity does not compel or require changing venue. **Bundy v. State**, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985). There is absolutely no requirement under the law that jurors arrive in court wholly ignorant of the case. **Dobbert v. Florida**, 432 U.S. 282 (1977); **Dobbert v. State**, 328 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1976); **Murphy v. Florida**, 421 U.S. 794 (1975); see **Irvin v. Dowd**, 366 U.S. 717 (1961). Reilly must show "utter corruption," **Rideau v. Louisiana**, 373 U.S. 723 (1963), of the community through pervasive publicity that inflamed and infected his jury.

Reilly has not and cannot make such a showing. Given full, individual, **voir dire**, he established nothing except the impartiality of the final petit jury to which he aired no objections.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS REILLY'S POST-MIRANDA STATEMENTS TO FELLOW INMATES.

The Appellant has the misfortune of having to assert the untenable position that one illegal confession forever taints all future, "post-Miranda," voluntary statements made to anyone, anywhere, whether a government agent or not. This, of course, is not the law. **Castro v. State**, 14 F.L.W. 359 (Fla. 1989); **Aycock v. State**, 528 So.2d 1223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); **DuBoise v. State**, 520 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1988); **DuFour v. State**, 495 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1986); **Perry v. State**, 522 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1988).

This issue does not center on what the police did. This issue is concerned only with Reilly's unsolicited comments made, in jail, to inmates who were **not** government agents and who were not "placed" with Reilly or under instructions to elicit statements from him. See **Maine v. Moulton**, 474 U.S. 159 (1985); **United States v. Henry**, 447 U.S. 264 (1980). We rely upon this Court's holding in **DuFour**, *supra* at 159:

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